
 
 

24 November 2020 at 5.00 pm 
 
This meeting will be held virtually via Zoom,  
and livestreamed here: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UClT1f_F5OfvTzxjZk6Zqn6g  

Despatched: 16.11.20 

 

 

Housing & Health Advisory 
Committee  

 
 

Membership: 
Chairman, Cllr. Maskell; Vice-Chairman, Cllr. Coleman   
Cllrs. Dr. Canet, Clack, Perry Cole, G. Darrington, Foster, Griffiths, Harrison, 
Parkin, Piper and Roy 
 

Agenda 
 
 
Apologies for Absence 
 

Pages Contact 

1.   Minutes  (Pages 1 - 4)  

 To agree the Minutes of the meeting of the 
Committee held on 29 September 2020, as a 
correct record. 
 

  

2.   Declarations of Interest    

 Any interests not already registered. 
 

  

3.   Actions from Previous Meetings (if any)     
 

4.   Update from Portfolio Holder     
 

5.   Referrals from Cabinet or the Audit 
Committee (if any)  
 

   
 

6.   Review of Homelessness Out of Hours Service  (Pages 5 - 14) Hayley Brooks  
Tel: 01732 227272 
 

7.   Delivering affordable housing in the Sevenoaks 
District: Progress report (2020)  

(Pages 15 - 44) Gavin Missons  
Tel: 01732 227332 
 

8.   Work Plan  (Pages 45 - 46)   
 

  
EXEMPT INFORMATION  
 
At the time of preparing this agenda there were no exempt items. During any 
such items which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public. 



 
 

    
If you wish to obtain further factual information on any of the agenda items listed 
above, please contact the named officer prior to the day of the meeting. 
 
Should you need this agenda or any of the reports in a different format, or  
have any other queries concerning this agenda or the meeting please contact 
Democratic Services on 01732 227000 or democratic.services@sevenoaks.gov.uk. 
 

 

 
 
 



15 
 

HOUSING & HEALTH ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
 

Minutes of the meeting held on 29 September 2020 commencing at 5.00 pm 
 
 
Present: Cllr. Maskell (Chairman) 

 
Cllr. Coleman (Vice Chairman) 

  
 Cllrs. Dr. Canet, Clack, Perry Cole, Coleman, G. Darrington, Griffiths, 

Harrison, Parkin and Piper 
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs. Foster and Roy 
 

 Cllr. Dickins was also present. 
 

 
 
41.    Minutes  

 
Resolved: That the Minutes of the meeting of the Housing and Health 
Advisory Committee held on 9 June 2020 be approved and signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record. 
 

42.    Declarations of Interest  
 

There were no additional declarations of interest. 
 
43.    Actions from Previous Meetings  

 
There were none. 
 
44.    Update from Portfolio Holder  

 
The Portfolio Holder, and Chairman, advised the Committee that he had attended 
a number of health related meetings over recent weeks, including the West Kent 
Elected Members Forum, Health Liaison Board and the Kent County Council Health 
and Overview Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) which had heard a number of updates on 
services and the reports and minutes could be accessed via the Kent County 
Council (KCC) website.  He also advised that there were ongoing talks with MOAT 
and West Kent Housing on strategic progress and working relationships.  He added 
that he was always available for any Members questions outside of the meeting. 
 
45.    Referrals from Cabinet or the Audit Committee  

 
There were none. 
 
 
 
46.    Budget 2021/22: Review of Service Dashboards and Service Change Impact 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=


Housing & Health Advisory Committee - 29 September 2020 

16 
 

Assessments (SCIAs)  
 

The Deputy Chief Executive & Chief Officer – Finance & Trading, presented the 
report which set out updates to the 2021/22 budget within the existing framework 
of the 10-year budget and savings plan.  The report presented a growth item that 
had been identified which needed to be considered, and requested further 
suggestions from Members, before finalising the budget for 2021/22. 
 
Informed by the latest information from Government and discussions with Cabinet, 
it was proposed that the Council continued to set a revenue budget that assumed 
no direct funding from Government through the Revenue Support Grant or New 
Homes Bonus. This would result in the Council continuing to be financially self-
sufficient. To achieve this aim and to ensure a balanced budget position over the 
next 10-year period would be more challenging this year due to the financial 
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
The budget process would be shorter with the Council’s budget set at the 
November Council meeting instead of the February Council meeting.  This should 
enable any changes to be implemented with effect from 1 April 2021 and minimise 
the period of uncertainty for staff. 
 
The annual budget gap included in the report was £826,000 which was largely due 
to Covid-19.  A growth proposal had been identified in the report for this 
Committee but Members were asked for their suggestions in order to contribute to 
reducing the budget gap, and their recommendations would be considered by 
Cabinet as part of the process to set a balanced 10-year budget.  By addressing the 
issues this year, the Council would once again be in a strong financial position that 
other councils would aspire to. 
 
There was a suggestion that charging for housing register referrals could be looked 
at, caveated with balancing relationships with local housing associations.  Another 
suggestion was that the private sector housing management service could be used 
to bring in income but initially that might need to be an area of growth in order to 
achieve it. 
 
Public Sector Equality Duty 
Members noted that consideration had been given to impacts under the Public 
Sector Equality Duty. 
 

Resolved: That it be recommended to Cabinet that 
 
a) the growth proposal identified in Appendices F & G to the report (SCIA 

20 (21/22) applicable to this Advisory Committee, be considered; 
 

b) consideration be given to asking Officers to explore the following further 
suggestions for growth and income 

 

i) charging for housing register referrals; and  
 

ii) charging for the private sector management service. 

Page 2

Agenda Item 1



Housing & Health Advisory Committee - 29 September 2020 

17 
 

 
 

47.    Caravan Site Licensing Fees  
 

The Private Sector Housing Manager presented the report which advised Members 
that with the introduction of the Mobile Homes Act 2013, the Council was now able 
to charge a fee to license residential caravan sites. Charging a fee would enable 
the Council to monitor site license compliance more effectively which would 
ensure residents’ health and safety was better protected and the value of their 
homes safeguarded. The Council would then be able to take enforcement action 
where site owners were not managing and maintaining their sites and services 
adequately. 
 
The report also outlined the background behind the Mobile Homes Act 2013, 
explained the types of sites that the fees could be applied to, how many relevant 
sites there were in the Sevenoaks district and the expected income if the 
recommendations were approved. 
 
Public Sector Equality Duty 
Members noted that consideration had been given to impacts under the Public 
Sector Equality Duty. 
 

Resolved: That it be recommended to Cabinet to adopt 
 
a) the Fees Policy for Relevant Protected Sites as set out in the Appendix 

to the report, from 1 September 2020; and 
 
b) a charge for licensing fees for Relevant Protected Sites in accordance 

with the Mobile Homes Act 2013, to apply as from 1 September 2020. 
 

 
48.    The Future of the 'Sevenoaks Switch and Save' Scheme  

 
The Private Sector Housing Manager presented the report which set out options for 
the future delivery of energy comparison services.  This included continuing to 
provide the Sevenoaks Switch and Save Scheme or supporting residents in accessing 
other existing nationally recognised services, set out as Options A or B at 
paragraph 21 of the report.    
 
Members debated the options before them, discussing the benefits of the current 
scheme and expressing some concern that those currently benefitting could be the 
least digitally literate and could therefore lose out.  It was noted if Option B were 
adopted, promotional improvements would be required to ensure an increased use 
of national energy switching services seen in the present scheme. 
 
Public Sector Equality Duty 
Members noted that consideration had been given to impacts under the Public 
Sector Equality Duty. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



Housing & Health Advisory Committee - 29 September 2020 

18 
 

Resolved: That it be recommended to Cabinet that the preferred choice is 
Option B, to no longer fund or provide the Council’s dedicated ‘Sevenoaks 
Switch and Save’ Scheme and instead promote existing nationally recognised 
energy switching comparison services and support local residents to access 
them at no cost to the Council. 
 

49.    Rough Sleepers  Covid-19 Update report  
 

The Head of Housing & Health presented the report which provided Members with 
an update on the homelessness work to place rough sleepers into accommodation 
as part of this Council’s response to COVID19. The Council continued to support 
homelessness people at risk of rough sleeping in temporary accommodation, as 
part of this Council’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic.  The aim was to support 
everyone in hotels, who wanted more permanent housing, to move-on and provide 
them with the required support to secure and succeed a tenancy moving forward. 
 
Members received an informative presentation from the Head of Housing & Health, 
and the Advisory Committee expressed their gratitude to her and her team for all 
their hard and valuable work. 
 
Public Sector Equality Duty 
Members noted that consideration had been given to impacts under the Public 
Sector Equality Duty. 
 

Resolved: That the work to place rough sleepers and those displaced by the 
pandemic into hotel accommodation as part of this Council’s COVID-19 
response, be noted. 
 

50.    To note minutes of the Health Liaison Board  
 

The minutes were noted. 
 
51.    Work Plan  

 
The work plan was noted, and it was agreed to move the ‘Housing in Multiple 
Occupation’ presentation to the meeting in February 2021 and also add to that 
meeting a progress report on the Housing Register and an update on the Housing 
Strategy.   
 
A request was made that an ‘Impact of Covid-19 on care homes’ be added to the 
Health Liaison Board agenda. 
 
 
 

THE MEETING WAS CONCLUDED AT 6.47 PM 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 1

https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/documents/s42488/Rough%20Sleepers%20COVID19%20update%20presentation%20290920.pdf?J=3


REVIEW OF HOMELESSNESS OUT OF HOURS SERVICE 

Housing and Health Advisory Committee – 24 November 2020  

 

Introduction and Background 

1 As a Local Housing Authority, this Council has a duty to provide a housing 
and homelessness advice service to people at risk of homelessness.  This 
service includes an out of hours (OOH) service for people who are made 

Report of: Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Officer – People & Places 

Status: For Consideration  

Also considered by:  

 Cabinet – 10 December 2020  

Key Decision: No 

Executive Summary:  This report provides a review of the pilot undertaken with 

Centra to provide the Council’s homelessness out of hours service and considers 

future delivery options for the service. 

This reports support the Key Aim of: District Council’s Housing Strategy and 

related elements of the Community Plan.   

Portfolio Holder: Cllr. Kevin Maskell  

Contact Officer: Hayley Brooks, Ext. 7272 

Recommendation to Housing and Health Advisory Committee:  

That Members consider the options for the Council’s homelessness out-of-hours 

service and make a recommendation to Cabinet; and  

Recommendation to Cabinet: 

That, subject to comments from Housing and Health Advisory Committee, 

Members agree an option for the future delivery for the Council’s homelessness 

out-of-hour service.   

Reason for recommendation: The Council is required to deliver a dedicated 

service to customers facing homelessness outside standard office hours.  This 

report provides Members with options for how the homelessness out-of-hours 

service is delivered.  

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



homeless outside office hours, to assist them to find immediate emergency 
accommodation.   

2 Since the changes to housing legislation through the introduction of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act, the work of the Council’s Housing Advice Team 
has increased, with the need to support more people, for longer periods of 
time and help people with very complex needs and vulnerabilities.  

3 All councils nationally are finding it increasingly difficult to recruit to posts 
as there is such a high demand for experienced housing staff to cope with 
the additional workload demand and customer contact, including the out of 
hours period. 

4 As a result, SMT approved a request to work with Centra to handle the 
Council’s homelessness out-of-hours service, which commenced on 17 
October 2019. The appointment was based on a 6 month pilot however, due 
to the additional pressures of the Covid-19 response, it was agreed to 
extend the pilot to one year, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Health. 

5 Centra is a not for profit organisation, providing a range of high quality 
face-to-face support services, telecare monitoring and call handling services 
to over 200,000 customers across the UK each year.  Centra provide housing 
out-of-hours services for a large number of other local authorities and 
housing associations including West Kent Housing Association.  

Council’s Homelessness OOH Service 

6 The Council’s homelessness out-of-hours telephone service provides an 
essential emergency contact for anyone who is going to be imminently 
homeless and need to contact the Council out of core business hours, during 
evenings, weekends and bank holidays.   

7 It is important for people to have access to emergency housing support, as 
the Council continually strives to place the district’s most vulnerable 
residents at the heart of what it does. 

8 Prior to this Centra pilot, Housing Advice Officers who were operating the 
service during the day were also taking OOH calls on a rota basis, outside 
the Council’s office hours.  This presented a significant challenge to 
officers, particularly during periods of vacant posts, sickness and covering 
annual leave.  On occasions, two officers were covering these hours 
continuously, meaning officers are having to take emergency homelessness 
calls 24/7 across an extended number of months each year. 

9 For the Council’s Housing Advice Officers to provide this service, it costs the 
Council an additional £474.20 per month, as it is paid as an OOH payment in 
additional to monthly salary costs.  The pilot has cost the Council £195 per 
month (for up to a maximum of 180 calls).  

 

 

 

Page 6

Agenda Item 6



Centra Pilot – Performance Details 

10 The Council has piloted the OOH service with Centra, but continues to 
maintain the majority of our housing service in-house, most importantly 
during weekdays when we see the highest levels of customer contact. 

11 The OOH service still enables customers to telephone the Council’s main 
office number, which is answered by the Council’s CCTV operators who take 
the details and contact Centra if the customer’s needs an emergency 
accommodation placement.  This ensures consistency in service for 
customers and customers calls are answered promptly with no waiting time. 

12 The table below illustrates the customer contacts to the Council’s Housing 
Advice and Homelessness Service, compared to the service provided by 
Centra during out of hours. 

Service 
October 2019 
– March 2020 

April - 
October 2020 

TOTALS 

SDC Housing Advice Service    

No. of customer calls 2,846 3,512 6,358 

No. of new customer cases 545 610 1,155 

No. of TA placements 83 77 160 

    

Centra OOH Service    

No. of calls 33 56 89 

No. of TA placements 11 12 23 

 

13 The majority of customer calls are received during weekdays. Over the 
twelve months, the Housing Advice and Homelessness Service has received 
and responded to 6,358 calls during weekdays, compared to 89 calls 
supported by Centra within the same period.  

14 The Housing Advice and Homelessness Service capacity is already under 
severe strain during the week to cope with existing customer demand. The 
majority of the 6,358 customer calls handled by the team are incredibly 
complex, supporting vulnerable people with mental health, addiction, other 
disability, age or illness issues, as well as those who have been released 
from prison or are victims of domestic abuse. Officers always strive to 
provide the best customer service to ensure the right support and advice is 
provided. However, due to the nature of these calls and customer needs, 
they do have a huge strain and impact on the team’s own wellbeing and the 
weekends provide some respite. 

15 As part of the pilot, officers have met regularly with Centra and the 
Council’s CCTV Manager to provide updates, review calls and make 
adjustments to scripting and information to assist both teams dealing with 
OOH calls.  There have been five calls where it is taken over 20 minutes for 
our CCTV operatives to get through to Centra.  To resolve this, we have 
updated CCTV scripting so they can assess whether the person needs a 
placement and Centra have provided an alternative contractor telephone 
numbers for our use.  These happened during particular peak times for OOH 
services during severe cold weather when require placements increased.  If 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



this service continues with Centra, Centra will provide a dedicated customer 
number for this Council, so that customers can go directly back to them 
with further queries.  Both will also have access to a back-up contact with a 
senior housing officer from the Council to support them with complex 
queries. 

16 The Council’s senior housing officers have also had contact with Centra 
operators during this period, to advise them on issues above and beyond a 
standard placement, mainly where there is an issue with an existing 
placement and they are being asked to leave.  Managers have always found 
Centra very helpful, professional and have provided clear and accurate 
advice to customers, based on the legislation. 

17 Overall, we have found the OOH pilot with Centra to be a success.  It has 
released the pressure on existing Housing Advice Officers to concentrate 
fully during the day to support customers to the best of their ability, as they 
have not had disturbed sleep during the night delivering the service 24/7.  
In addition, Centra has represented this Council to a high customer service 
standard and professionally at all times. 

Centra OOH Service Review - Customer Feedback 

18 To ensure that customers have received a high standard of service, senior 
housing officers have carried out a number of mystery shopper calls to the 
service.  These calls where dealt with quickly with accurate information 
provided, whilst demonstrating empathy and consideration for the difficult 
housing circumstances.  

19 Throughout the pilot officers have undertaken spot check reviews, 
contacting customers who have accessed the OOH service to obtain their 
feedback on the service: 

Customer 
Q.1:  Were you satisfied 
with the service you 
received? 

Q.2: Is there anything you 
would want us to change 
about this service? 

Customer 1 Yes, very happy about 
service received. 

No, slight delay moving 
(was a TWBC placement 
taken over by SDC) but no 
complaint about this. 

Customer 2 Yes, perfectly happy. No, everything went 
smoothly. 

Customer 3 I was looking for 
somewhere to stay, but 
they couldn’t get 
somewhere (due to lack of 
evidence to back up the 
request).  I was told to 
pack up and be ready to 
move, but then it didn’t 
happen.  

They (Centra) shouldn’t 
have said they would look 
for somewhere, just to 
then say they couldn’t 
help.  I spoke with Council 
officers the following 
week, who assisted me. 
(Note: Centra processes 
have been updated since 
this call, on occasions 
there is a need to ask for 

Page 8

Agenda Item 6



Customer 
Q.1:  Were you satisfied 
with the service you 
received? 

Q.2: Is there anything you 
would want us to change 
about this service? 

evidence of priority need 
before placing, as per the 
legislation). 

Customer 4 The service from out of 
hours was fine. 

 No 

Customer 5 Yes, I was satisfied.  No 

Customer 6 I am really satisfied with 
the service. Centra were 
really helpful. The speed 
of the response was quick 
and I felt like they wanted 
to help me. 

They don’t need to 
change anything.  

Customer 7 Yes I was satisfied. Nothing to change. 

Customer 8 Yes, the man I spoke to 
was amazing, he was 
really helpful and the 
process was really quick. 

Nothing to change, it was 
a really good service. 

Customer 9 Staff at Centra were 
helpful, got me through to 
who I needed to and 
didn’t keep me waiting. 

No, nothing to change 

Customer 10 She was really happy with 
the service and that she 
had no problems getting 
through to anyone to get 
help. 

No and that she felt it 
worked well for her and 
that she was able to get 
help. 

Customer 11 Yes No, happy with the 
service provided. 

Customer 12 Yes, it was easy to deal 
with.  

Nothing to change 

Customer 13 Gave me advice over the 
phone and I contacted the 
council on Monday, yes it 
was fine. 

Not really, it worked well 
for me. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



Customer 
Q.1:  Were you satisfied 
with the service you 
received? 

Q.2: Is there anything you 
would want us to change 
about this service? 

Customer 14 The person was very 
helpful, thank you. 

No 

Customer 15 It was really good from 
start to finish. 

Nothing to change. 

 

20 Calls not answered for a further 10 customers contacted. Officers will 
continue to undertake spot checks and monitor customer feedback. 

21 The Housing Advice and Homelessness team are supportive of continuing the 
pilot. Officers continue to strive to provide the best customer service to 
ensure the right support and advice is provided. The pilot has released the 
pressure on officers to concentrate fully during the day to support 
customers to the best of their ability and has supported their continued 
wellbeing by providing them with some much needed respite at the 
weekends. 

Centra OOH Service Arrangements 

22 The one year pilot with Centra is due to end on 16 October 2020, and it is 
recommended the Council enter into a two-year contract with Centra 
(Option B at paragraph 29), subject to Member approval.  This would ensure 
the residents of Sevenoaks District continue to receive the same high 
standards of service required for contacts of this nature.  

23 If Option B were agreed, a Centra contract would run from 17 October 2020 
to 16 October 2022 with six monthly reviews of the service to ensure the 
service continues to respond to customer needs.  This cost would be funded 
from the Council’s core housing budget, which would normally be used to 
fund the additional OOH payment to staff. 

24 The Council has access to Centra’s OOH online portal, which shows all call 
logs and actions taken for each call, accommodation placement details and 
customer outcomes.  This is checked by the Council’s Housing Advice Team 
every morning and all customers who present through OOH are allocated 
with a Housing Advice Officer who contacts them to take a full homelessness 
application. 

25 Key performance indicators would be agreed as part of the Centra Contract 
with regular reviews to ensure the service meets the needs of customers 
and the Council. 

26 As part of the review, we have discussed with Centra having a dedicated 
customer telephone number to ensure that a customer can ring Centra 

Page 10

Agenda Item 6



direct with any follow-up queries or questions.  Centra have agreed that 
they would provide is as part of the contract going forward. 

27 To ensure that Centra and CCTV operatives are supported, it is proposed 
that one senior housing officer from the Council provides back-up support 
and can be contacted for complex queries.  This would support an ongoing 
high level of customer service, the out-of-hours payment for this officer 
have been included in the total annual costs under the key financial 
implications in this report. 

28 Officers will continue to work with the Council's Customer Solutions team to 
review any future impact on the contract against proposals for 7am-7pm 
opening. 
 

Other Options Considered and/or Rejected  

29 Three options were considered: 

 Option A – Do nothing.  This is not an option, as the appointment of 
Centra was only on an initial pilot basis only.  It was agreed that it 
would be reviewed and presented to Members for further 
consideration and decision. 

 Option B – To enter into a two year contract with Centra to continue 
delivering the Council’s homelessness out-of-hours service, with 
regular monitoring of the service in place.  One Council housing 
officer would provide a back-up contact for Centra and CCTV, to 
support them with complex questions.  The total cost to the Council 
of this service would be £3,689 per annum. 

 Option C – To bring the service back in-house.  It would be difficult to 
deliver this service in-house, additional work from the new legislation 
and more complex customers have already increased workloads and 
pressures on the service and team.  The small team of four housing 
officers are working on high and complex caseloads during the day, 
with no capacity to take on this service outside of normal working 
hours. This may also have a negative impact on staff morale and 
mental wellbeing, service standards during the day and be a less 
attractive employment opportunity when trying to recruit new 
officers in the future.  The four existing housing officers employed by 
this Council would be on a rota basis for at least one or two weeks a 
month (as well as covering annual leave, vacancies and sickness 
cover).  This would be at a cost to this Council, totalling in excess of 
£5,690 per annum.   

30 Based on customer feedback, officers are satisfied that the Council and its 
customers have received a good-value and efficient service from Centra 
throughout the pilot period.   

31 Providing the service externally would support the morale and wellbeing of 
Housing Advice Officers, who deal with difficult and complex customers 
daily.  This would create a better work-life balance for staff, whilst not 
compromising the high standard of customer service.   

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



32 The preferred option is B, because it delivers a cost-effective and efficient 
service for customers and the Council.   

Key Implications 

Financial 

The budget to provide this service would come from existing housing budgets, with 

no additional financial burden to this Council.  A two year contract with Centra 

would cost the Council £2,340 per annum, handling up to 180 calls per annum.  

This compares to the cost to this Council to provide the service in-house in excess 

of £5,690 per annum.  There would also be a need for one Council Housing Officer 

to be paid the out-of-hours payment of £112.43 per month, to provide a back-up 

contact for Centra and CCTV, if support them with complex questions.  The total 

cost of this service would be £3,689 per annum. 

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement. 

This Council has a legal duty to provide a 24/7 homelessness service, which 

includes an emergency OOH service for people made homeless outside office 

hours, who are statutory homeless and in priority need between 17.00-09.00 

(under part VII of the Housing Act 1996). 

Risk Risk 
level 

Measures to balance risk 

Increase in 
emergency 
accommodation 
placements 

Low The service during the pilot has not seen an increase 
in placements.   

Placements monitored as part of the Contract.  
Service Specification clear on requirements of the 
Section 188 duty to provide temporary 
accommodation if a customer is eligible, homeless 
and in priority need. 

OOH Operators have a strict script in place detailing 
requirements to prevent unnecessary placements 
being made. 

Approved list of Kent housing providers agreed in 
advance. 

Manager contact details provided for any issues above 
and beyond a standard placement. 

Impact on 
customer 
service 

Low Contract in place with regular reviews with the 
provider, during which any issues raised would be 
discussed with the Provider and processes amended. 

Page 12

Agenda Item 6



If the service was not meeting the high levels required 
for our customers, we could consider another external 
provider or bring the service back to the council, at 
break clause intervals or at the end of the contract 
period. 

Customer feedback would gathered as part of the 
service monitoring arrangements. 

All OOH calls would be recorded and can be accessed 
by SDC, to ensure customer service standards are 
high. 

Failure to 
deliver the SLA 
requirements 

Low If Centra failed to deliver the service outlined in the 
Contract, service standards would be discussed with 
the provider and process adjustments made.  If no 
improvement, contract review and break clauses 
within the Contract would be actioned. 

Regular monitoring meetings with the provider, 
performance measured set out in the Contract with 
reviewed at regular intervals. 

GDPR and data 
sharing 

Low A GDPR Compliant Data Sharing Agreement in place as 
part of the Contract, developed in partnership with 
our Legal Team. 

SDC access to the provider’s online OOH portal and 
database to see details and recording of all calls, 
placements and advice given. 

Equality Assessment 

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance to 

the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users. 

Conclusions 

Members are asked to consider the options and agree on how the Council’s 

homelessness out-of-hours service will be delivered, to provide a dedicated service 

to customers facing homelessness outside standard office hours.   

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



Sarah Robson 

Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Officer – People & Places 

Appendices 

None 

Background Papers 

None 

Page 14

Agenda Item 6



DELIVERING AFFORDABLE HOUSING IN THE SEVENOAKS DISTRICT: PROGRESS 

REPORT (2020) 

Housing and Health Advisory Committee – 24 November 2020 

 

Introduction and Background 

1 In the period from 1989 and up until 2018/19, the District Council acted 

solely as an enabler of affordable housing – though, with the creation of 

Quercus Housing, the District Council is now once again directly involved in 

the actual delivery of affordable housing. 

2 In 2017/18, the District Council adopted a new Housing Strategy and this 
sets out its aims to meet current and future housing needs in the District 
and with relevant priorities, being:  

I. Strategic Housing Priority 1: ‘Providing a good mix of decent and 
affordable housing across sectors; and  

II. Strategic Housing Priority 3: ‘Meeting the needs of vulnerable and 
low-income households’.     

3 The District Council’s affordable housing work programme directly supports 
these priorities and the associated presentation will update Members on 
recent progress along with developing plans over the short and medium-
terms.     

 

Report of:  Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Officer People & Places 

Status: For information 

Key Decision: No 

This report supports the Key Aim of the District Council’s Housing Strategy 

(2017) and wider aspects of the Community Plan (2019-22). 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr. Kevin Maskell  

Contact Officer: Gavin Missons, Ext. 7332 

Recommendation to Housing & Health Advisory Committee:  That Members 

note progress made in relation to the District Council’s affordable housing work 

programme. 

Reason for recommendation: To demonstrate progress made against the 

District Council’s Housing Strategy (2017).   

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



Key Implications 

Financial 

The District’s affordable housing work programme is funded from a number of 
different sources, including private finance (sourced by housing 
associations/providers); Government’s social housing grant; housing associations’ 
own budgets, including recycled capital funding; and in respect of Quercus 
Housing, via Section 106 (S106) affordable housing planning gains.  As such, there 
is no direct impact on District Council budgets.   

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement  

The District Council has a duty to work to meet housing needs and this work 
programme directly supports that requirement.   

Equality Assessment   

The District Council’s Housing Strategy aims to equalise housing opportunities and 

this work programme directly supports that aim.   

    

 

Sarah Robson 

Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Officer People & Places 

Appendices 

Appendix A – PowerPoint presentation (to be shown during the agenda item)  

Background Papers 

Housing Strategy (2017) 
https://www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/downloads/download/308/housing_strategy_201
7 

 

Page 16

Agenda Item 7



02 September 2020

Delivering affordable housing in the 
Sevenoaks District 

Progress Report (2020)
Gavin Missons

Housing Policy Manager 

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 7



02 September 2020

Delivering affordable housing in the 
Sevenoaks District 

Progress Report (2020)
Gavin Missons

Housing Policy Manager 

Local policy context 

Housing Strategy ‘Wellbeing Starts at Home’ (2017‐20)

Priority: ‘To provide a good mix of decent and affordable housing’ 

Community Plan (2019‐22)

Theme: ‘Sustainable Communities’

P
age 18

A
genda Item

 7



02 September 2020

Delivering affordable housing in the 
Sevenoaks District 

Progress Report (2020)
Gavin Missons

Housing Policy Manager 

Summary of delivery in 2019/20 

Delivered on s106 sites  155  

Delivered on non‐S106 sites  51

Delivered on 100% A/H sites 71

Delivered which meet the LTHS 107

Total 206

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 7



02 September 2020

Delivering affordable housing in the 
Sevenoaks District 

Progress Report (2020)
Gavin Missons

Housing Policy Manager 

Looking back over the last 15‐years 

P
age 20

A
genda Item

 7



‐ Completed developments ‐P
age 21

A
genda Item

 7



Ryewood, Dunton Green

Norman Court/Romney Court 

35 x 1‐ and 2‐bed shared‐ownership apartments 

21 x non‐S106 provision 

And more to come

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 7



Oakley Park, Edenbridge

Oakley Park 

41 x shared‐ownership homes

79 x affordable rented homes

40% S106 provision 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 7



Westerham House, Edenbridge

Westerham House, Edenbridge

36 x shared‐ownership homes

40% S106 provision (x15) 

60% non‐S106 (x21) 

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 7



Gladedale House, Westerham

Gladedale House, Westerham 

First Quercus Housing purchase

14 x apartments

9 x affordable rent (limited to LHA)

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 7



Downsview, Swanley

Downsview, Swanley  

12 x affordable rented apartments 

12 x shared-ownership apartments

3 x shared-ownership houses 

3 x affordable rented houses  

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 7



Upcoming schemes ‐ Upcoming schemes ‐

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 7



Quinton Lodge, Sevenoaks

Quinton Lodge, Sevenoaks

10 x 1‐bed shared‐ownership apartments 

17% A/H permitted at appeal 

High‐end apartments (changing approach)

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 7



The Mallards, Swanley

The Mallards, Swanley 

District’s first modular affordable housing scheme (MMC)

11 x affordable rented homes

11 x shared‐ownership homes 

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 7



Fort Halstead

Fort Halstead 

Potential for several affordable housing products

Supported housing opportunity 

Local connection considerations (S/O) 

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 7



The Dynes, Kemsing

Dynes

District’s first purpose‐built extra care scheme 

51 x multi‐tenure apartments 

Open market; shared‐ownership; affordable rented

Local marketing campaign ahead of completion 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 7



Other enabling activity 

‐ Community Land Trusts (CLTs)
‐ Self‐build 
‐ Sub‐dividing larger social housing
‐ Other reconfiguration/refurbishment
‐ Conversions from commercial to residential  
‐ Small sites programme
‐ Joint ventures and new providers 

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 7



Quercus Housingg
‐ Gladedale House, Westerham
‐ High Street, Swanley
‐ Long‐term empty homes
‐ Potential TA accommodation ‐Main 
Road, West Kingsdown 

‐ Small sites programme 
‐ S106 developments

‐ Limited funding, however (new planning rules) 

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 7



Rural housing work programme

Three consecutive annual ‘Rural Housing Week’ events 

Consequent unprecedented level of interest/activity 

9 x active projects underway 

Also provision for local ‘Essential Workers’ and older people

Cross-subsidy  

New evidence-based programme (2020-2025)

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 7



Planned delivery in 2020/21 

Shared‐ownership  30 

Social rented  2

Affordable rented  15

Total  47

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 7



In the pipeline for 2021/22 and beyond  

Shared‐ownership  53

Social rented  27

Affordable rented (LHA)  96

Intermediate rented  2

Total  178

‘genuinely affordable’

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 7



The Emerging Local Plan 
‐
 5% fully wheelchair standard 
 Encourage lifts in flatted developments
 Cross‐subsidy on rural exceptions sites
 Local connection 
 CLTs
 Higher densities
 Self‐build
 Locally‐defined ‘Essential Worker’ definition
Off‐site contributions

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 7



Some of the future challenges  
‐
– 93% Green Belt  – Local Housing Allowance  – Stock rationalisation 

– 60% AONB – HA finances (post CV‐19) – Local connection priority 

– Lack of SDC land – Land/property values – Changing demographics

– Lack of HA land  – Limited capital funding  – Right‐to‐Buy (2) 

– Rising homelessness – Growing SDHR  – New planning rules

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 7



Housing association partners 
West Kent HA (LSVT partner) ‐

‐ New Chief Executive and management team; new strategic vision

‐ Keen to do more work with the District Council 

Other providers ‐

‐ Further HAs working in this area in recent years

‐ Different business models/risk profiles

‐ Different specialties, e.g. rural, extra care, mental health etc

‐ Actively exploring additional HAs

‐ Unit number threshold issue

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 7



Long‐term empty homes 

Improving our evidence base and options for assistance: 

‐ Annual mail‐out for Council Tax purposes 
‐ Quercus Housing/Quercus 7 
‐ KCC’s ‘No Use Empty’
‐ SDC’s enhanced option 
‐ Hand‐holding services
‐ Housing associations
‐ Other organisations, e.g. supported accommodation providers
‐ Potential holiday accommodation 
‐ 2 x long‐term empty homes brought back into use recently  

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 7



Long‐term empty homes 

New action plan for 2021 

‐ Developing early draft 
‐ To set up HHAC sub‐group to enable member input early on 
‐ To look at more creative measures to improve outcomes
‐ To develop new case studies to better promote our enabling services  
‐ To be brought to HHAC for approval in spring 2021
‐ To then inform new main housing strategy later in 2021/22 

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 7



‘Social Housing White Paper’  
 New 5‐year affordable housing programme 
 Emphasis on home ownership and social rented housing 
 Removal of S106 
 ‘First Homes Scheme’
New ‘Help to Buy’ scheme launching 01/04/21 
 New national shared‐ownership model
 ‘Future Homes Standard’
 Densifying in existing residential areas 
 Reforming ‘New Homes Bonus’
 Single Housing Infrastructure Fund 
 ‘New Homes Ombudsman’
 Funding to end rough sleeping 
Working closely with Homes England on future delivery programmes 

P
age 42

A
genda Item

 7



‐ End ‐

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

Housing and Health Advisory Committee Work Plan 2020/21 (as at 27/10/20) 

 

24 November 2020 9 February 2021 Summer 2021 Autumn 2021 

Homelessness Out of Hours 
Service Review 

Delivering affordable housing 
in the Sevenoaks district; 
progress report (2020)  

Health Liaison Board minutes 

West Kent Housing Association 
update (presentation) 

Housing in Multiple Occupation 
(HMO Position Report) (to incl. 
BRE summary) 

Progress on Housing Register 

Housing Strategy refresh 

Paramount Presentation 

PSH Enforcement Policy 

 

Health Liaison Board minutes 

 

Health Liaison Board minutes 

Review of Service Dashboards 
and Service Change Impact 
Assessments (SCIAs) 

  

 

 

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Review of Homelessness Out of Hours Service
	7 Delivering affordable housing in the Sevenoaks District: Progress report (2020)
	07 Apx A affordable housing presentation

	8 Work Plan

